REPUBLIC OF KENYA



COUNTY GOVERNMENT OF WEST POKOT

COUNTY TREASURY

County Debt Management Strategy Paper

February 2024

©County Debt Management Strategy Paper (CDMSP) 2024 The County Treasury

P.O Box 222-30600 Kapenguria, Kenya.

 $Email: \underline{info@westpokot.go.ke}$

Website: www.westpokot.go.ke

This document is available at www.westpokot.go.ke

FOREWORD

The Debt Management Strategy provides a framework that will guide County governments to ensure that debt levels stay affordable and sustainable. The County Government of West Pokot has no plans of incurring debt in the financial year 2024/2025 since the budget proposals contained in the fiscal strategy paper, 2024 are balanced with the resource envelope available hence there will be no anticipated need for deficit financing. However, as the County government matures and its strategic needs grow, there is need for the preparation of a Debt management strategy as part of the documents supporting budget to enable it meet its financial needs from the financial and money markets.

The purpose of the 2024 MTDS is to guide County Government borrowing in the future financial years while providing a path for sustainable level of debt over the medium term. It evaluates both costs and risks of various scenarios and recommends an optimal debt management strategy for implementation in the future.

The institutional arrangements for public debt management will be reviewed to enable the county treasury execute its mandate effectively and efficiently under the Constitution of Kenya 2010. The implementation of the constitution requires enormous amount of the resources, part of which will be sourced through borrowing. It's therefore important to closely monitor the burden of the public debt at county government level so as not to undermine economic growth. As we implement the Constitution of Kenya, 2010, it is important that both the burden of and benefit from public borrowing is equitably shared between the present and future generations. Indeed, it is one of the key principles of public finance under Article 201 of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010. It is therefore expected that going forward the County Government's fiscal strategies will be geared towards maintaining a sustainable level of debt.

the .

Joshua Loriong'ong'ar Rutto
County Executive Committee Member for Finance and Economic Planning
West Pokot County

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The West Pokot County Debt Management strategy for FY 2024/2025 is informed by a fiscal policy supportive of macro-economic stability and growth. To finalize the transfer of assets and liabilities from the defunct LAs to the County Governments, a Legal Notice Vol. CXIX-No.13 was prepared and published on 27th January 2017 to facilitate this transfer process. Among assets and liabilities of the defunct LAs covered in this process are: i) pending bills; ii) tax arrears; and, iii) statutory deductions relating to the National Hospital Insurance Fund (NHIF), National Social Security Fund (NSSF), Pension Funds, VAT and PAYE. In this context, County Assets and Liabilities committees were formed to identify, verify, and validate the assets and liabilities of the defunct Local Authorities as at 27th March 2013. This exercise was concluded, and Intergovernmental Relations Technical Committee (IGRTC) handed over the reports for implementation by each county government. The strategy therefore will guide the county government to adequately prepare before payment of any inherited debts or undertaking any future borrowings to support implementation of priority policies, capital programmes and projects.

I would like to thank Mr. Joshua Rutto (*County Executive Member for Finance and Economic Planning*) and the County Executive Members for their input and for dedicating their time to provide leadership in the entire Debt Management Strategy preparation process. The Budget and County Planning team also spent a significant amount of time to put together the report. In this regard, I'm grateful for their technical input and commitment to the success of the process. Thank you all for the excellent support and work.

Priscilla Chebet Mungo

Chief Officer Finance and Economic Planning

West Pokot County

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iii
ACRONYMS	iii
CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL OBJECTIVES OF DEBT MANAGEMENT IN WEST COUNTY1	РОКОТ
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Definition of Terms	1
1.3 Legal Framework	2
1.4 Objective of the Debt Management Strategy	6
CHAPTER TWO: OVERVIEW OF THE MEDIUM TERM DEBT MANAGEMENT7	'STRATEGY
2.1 Declaration of County Debts and Liabilities	7
2.2 Proposed Management Strategy for Liabilities and Pending Bills	8
2.3 Key Assumptions	8
2.4 Analysis of Debt Sustainability	9
2.5 Debt Management Strategies	9
2.6 Maintain debt at sustainable and affordable levels	9
2.7 Implementation Framework	12
2.8 Fiscal Measures	13
2.9 Legal Measures	13
2.10 Institutional and Operational Framework	14
2.10.1 County Debt Management Advisory Committee	14
2.10.2 Functions and Responsibilities of the Debt Management Unit	14
2.10.3 Process for Recommending Borrowing Proposals to the County Executive	15

CHAPTER THREE: CONCLUSION	
ANNEX 1 & 2	1

ACRONYMS

MTDMS Medium Term Debt Management Strategy Paper

CRA Commission on Revenue Allocation

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

CECM County Executive Committee Member

ADB African Development Bank

DMAC Debt Management Advisory Committee

DMU County Debt Management Unit

CIDP County Integrated Development Plan

GDP Gross Domestic Product

CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL OBJECTIVES OF DEBT MANAGEMENT IN WEST POKOT COUNTY

1.1 Introduction

This is the sixth Medium Term Debt Management Strategy Paper (MTDMS) prepared by the County Government of West Pokot since its inception. This Strategy paper sets out the County Government's objectives, strategy and plans for the management of its debt for Financial Year 2024/2025 and the medium term. The MTDMS is a plan that outlines what the county government intends to implement over the medium term in order to achieve a desired composition of debt portfolio. It operationalizes the government's debt management objectives i.e. ensuring the County government's financing needs and payment obligations are met at the lowest possible cost consistent with a prudent degree of risk. It has a strong focus on managing the risk exposure embedded in the debt portfolio—specifically, potential variations in the cost of debt servicing and its impact on the budget. In particular, the MTDMS identifies how costs and risks vary with the composition of the debt.

1.2 Definition of Terms

1.2.1 **Debt**

Public debt, or borrowing, includes the contracting or guaranteeing of domestic and external (foreign) debt through loans, financial leasing, on-lending and any other type of borrowing, including concessional and non-concessional borrowing, whatever the source. Borrowing and debt of county government owned institutions would be included in the definition of total county government debt. Liabilities from defunct local authorities and pending bills have also been classified as Debts.

1.2.2 Medium-Term Debt Management Strategy

This Medium-Term Debt Management Strategy (Debt Strategy) is a framework that the County government intends to use over the medium-term (three years) to ensure that debt levels stay affordable and sustainable, that any new borrowing is for a good purpose and that the costs and risks of borrowing are minimized.

1.2.3 Debt Sustainability

Debt sustainability refers to the ability of West Pokot County government to service its debt on a continuing basis and not go into default.

1.3 Legal Framework

The Public Finance Management Act, 2012 requires County Treasury to submit the County Government Debt Management Strategy to the County Assembly. Section 123 stipulates that: "On or before the 28th February in each year, the County Treasury shall submit to the County Assembly a statement setting out the debt management strategy of the county government over the medium term with regard to its actual liability and potential liability in respect of loans and its plans for dealing with those liabilities."

After submission of the statement to the assembly, the County Executive Member for Finance is required to publish and publicize the statement and submit a copy to the Commission on Revenue Allocation (CRA), and the Intergovernmental Budget and Economic Council (IBEC).

Framework for Borrowing by County Governments

Section 212 of the Constitution gives county governments a window of opportunity to borrow. All borrowed funds must be guaranteed by the national government and have to be approved by the County Government's Assembly. Loans to county governments are part of the public debt. The constitutional provision on borrowing is operationalized by the PFMA, 2012. (1) Section 58 of the Act states, Subject to subsection (2), the Cabinet Secretary may guarantee a loan of a County Government or any other borrower on behalf of the National Government and that loan shall be approved by Parliament.

The Cabinet Secretary shall not guarantee a loan under subsection (1) unless

- (a) The loan is for a capital project.
- (b) The borrower is capable of repaying the loan, and paying any interest or other amount payable in respect of it.
- (c) In the case of a private borrower; there is sufficient security for the loan.
- (d) The financial position of the borrower over the medium term is likely to be satisfactory;
- (e) The terms of the guarantee comply with the fiscal responsibility principles and financial objectives of the National Government. Where Parliament has passed a resolution setting a limit for the purposes of this section;

(a)	The amount guaranteed does not exceed that limit.
(b)	If it exceeds that limit, the draft guarantee document has been approved by resolution of
	both

Houses of Parliament.

- (c) The Cabinet Secretary takes into account the equity between the National Government's interests and the County Government's interests so as to ensure fairness.
- (d) The borrower complies with any conditions imposed by the Cabinet Secretary in accordance with the regulations.
- (e) The Cabinet Secretary has taken into account the recommendation of the Intergovernmental Budget and Economic Council in respect of any guarantee to a County Government; and
- (f) The loan is made in accordance with provisions of this Act and any regulations made thereunder. Parliament may approve a draft loan guarantee document as provided by subsection (2)(f)(ii) Only if satisfied that;
- (a) The guarantee is in the public interest;
- (b) The borrower's financial position is strong enough to enable the borrower to repay the loan proposed to be guaranteed and to pay interest or other amounts payable in respect of the loan; and
- (c) The loan is geared towards stimulating economic growth in a County Government. Section 107 of the Act specifies
- Over the medium term, the government's borrowings shall be used only for the purpose of financing development expenditure and not for recurrent expenditure.
- The county debt shall be maintained at a sustainable level as approved by County Assembly.
- The fiscal risks shall be managed prudently.
- Short term borrowing shall be restricted to management of cash flows and shall not exceed five percent of the most recent audited county government revenue.
- Every county government shall ensure that its level of debt at any particular time does not exceed a percentage of its annual revenue specified in respect of each financial year by a resolution of the County Assembly.

Section 140 and 141 of the Act specifies that

• A County Executive Committee member for finance may, on behalf of the County Government, raise a loan for that Government's purposes, only if the loan and the terms and conditions for the loan are set out in writing and are in accordance with;

- (i) Article 212 of the Constitution
- (ii) Sections 58 and 142 of this [PFMA] Act
- (iii)The fiscal responsibility principles and the financial objectives of the county government set out in its most recent County Fiscal Strategy Paper
- (iv)The debt management strategy of the County Government over the medium term
- (v) A loan may be raised either within Kenya or outside Kenya
- In borrowing money, a County Government shall ensure that it's financing needs and payment obligations are met at the lowest possible cost in the market that is consistent with a prudent degree of risk, while ensuring that the overall level of public debt is sustainable.
- A County Government may borrow money only in accordance with this Act or any other legislation and shall not exceed the limit set by the County Assembly.
- A County Government may borrow money in accordance with section 58, and only for purposes that are prescribed by regulations made under this subsection.
- A public debt incurred by a County Government is a charge on the County Revenue Fund, unless the County Executive Committee member for finance determines that all or part of the public debt that would otherwise be a charge on that Fund shall be a charge on another public fund established by that county government or any of its entities.
- The County Executive Committee member for finance shall pay the proceeds of any loan raised under this Act into the County Revenue Fund or into any other public fund established by the county government or as the County Executive Committee member for finance may determine.
- A County Executive Committee member for finance may establish such sinking fund or funds for the redemption of loans raised under this Act for the purposes of the County Government or any of its entities as the County Executive Committee member for finance considers necessary
- Any expenses incurred in connection with borrowing by a County Government shall be a charge on the County Revenue Fund or on such other county public fund established by the

County Government or any of its entities as the County Executive Committee member for finance may determine in accordance with regulations approved by the County Assembly.

Section 142 of the act provides that

- The County Assembly may authorize short term borrowing by county government entities for cash management purposes only.
- Any borrowing may not exceed five percent of the most recent audited revenues of the entity.
- A County Government entity that has any such borrowing shall ensure that the money borrowed is repaid within a year from the date on which it was borrowed.

Section 143 of the act specifies that

- The County government may issue securities, whether for money that it has borrowed or for any other purpose, only in one or more series and only in accordance with this Act and regulations.
- Subject to the provisions of section 141 of this Act, the authority of the County Executive Committee member for finance to borrow money includes the authority to borrow money by issuing County Government securities in accordance with the regulations.
- Any County Government securities issued by the County Executive Member for finance under this section shall be within the borrowing limits set out by the County Assembly under subsection 141(2) of this Act
- County Government securities may be issued in one or more series; and may be issued in accordance with loan agreements entered into in accordance with regulations developed by the County Executive Committee member for finance and approved by the County Assembly.
- An agreement to obtain a loan by a County Government entity made under subsection (5) may be amended from time to time and where the amendment results in further indebtedness or prejudice to the entity that borrowed, the amendment shall be approved by the County Assembly.
- The County Executive Committee member for finance shall ensure that every County Government security issued under this section is given in the name of that County.

1.4 Objective of the Debt Management Strategy

The main objective of West Pokot Debt Management Strategy is to ensure that the County Government of West Pokot's financing needs and its payment obligations are met at the lowest possible cost over the medium to long term, consistent with a prudent degree of risk. Specifically, the Strategy aims at:

- (a) Covering financing needs and payment obligations, while minimizing medium- and long-term costs;
- (b) Limiting risk in the public debt portfolio. The limitation of risks attached to the County Government Debt portfolio is an important objective set in this Strategy, aiming at providing an optimal and sustainable composition of the public debt;
- (c) Comprehensively addressing the challenges of liabilities inherited from defunct local authorities and pending bills from FY 2013/14

In summary, the strategy seeks to balance cost and risk of public debt while taking into account county government financing needs. In addition, the strategy incorporates initiatives to leverage on the domestic debt market, seek new funding sources, support macroeconomic stability and achieve debt sustainability.

CHAPTER TWO: OVERVIEW OF THE MEDIUM TERM DEBT MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

2.1 Declaration of County Debts and Liabilities

The county government is yet to borrow within the meaning of the Constitution and PFMA, 2012. However, the county administration has inherited liabilities from the defunct local authorities and pending bills as shown below;

2.1.1 Liabilities from Former County Council of Pokot

Table 1: Liabilities; County Council of Pokot

Creditors/Payables and Accruals								
	Outstanding as at	Due for the year	Total	Amount Paid	Balance as at	Amount Paid	Amount Paid	Balance as at
	1/7/2012 in Kshs	FY 2012/13	Outstanding	as at 31st	31/03/2013	as at 30 th	in FY 2023/24	28th Feb 2024
		(Ksh)	Balance as at	March 2013	(Kshs)	June 2016		
			31/03/2013					
Net salaries and						1,300,000	1,346,052	4,329,998
arrears	13,206,616.00	0	13,206,616.00	6,230,566.00	6,976,050.00			
Net cllrs (arrears)	920,308.00	935,452.00	1,855,760.00	1,470,667.00	385,093.00	0	192,515	192,515
LAPF	11,259,546.00	53,266,321.00	64,525,867.00	25,266,321.00	39,259,546.00			39,259,546.00
KLGWU	227,600.00	36,000.00	263,600.00	50,000.00	213,600.00			213,600.00
Interest arrears-						336,792	0	0
NHC	336,792.00	0.00	336,792.00	0.00	336,792.00			
TELKOM Kenya						0	0	
limited	585,242.00	0.00	585,242.00	0.00	585,242.00			585,242.00
Birech and Co.						0	0	
advocate	420,000 .00	0.00	420,000.00	0.00	420,000.00			420,000.00
Kenya National						0	0	
Audit office	2,400,000.00	400,000.00	2,800,000.00	400,000.00	2,400,000.00			2,400,000.00

ALGAK TOTAL	312,159.00 29.668.263.00	187,461.00 54,825,234.00	499,620.00 84.493.497.00	334,659.00 33.752.213.00	164,961.00 50,741,284.00	1,636,792	1.538.567	164,961.00 47.565.862

Source; Financial Statements for the Year ended 4th March,2013 and County Treasury 2024

2.1.2 Liabilities from Former Town Council of Chepareria

Table 2: Liabilities; Town Council of Chepareria

	Balance as at 31st March 2013	Amount Paid As at 28th Feb	Outstanding balance as at 28 th
ITEM		2024	Feb 2024
Staff salaries and wage arrears	5,735,753.00	2,637,705.00	3,098,048.00
Councilors` Arrears	4,959,223.00	2,114,979.50	2,844,243.00
Statutory Deductions-NRA	1,186,362.00	0	1,186,362.00
-NSSF	175,200.00	0	175,200.00
-NHIF	124,800.00	0	124,800.00
-Provident fund	3,762,780.00	0	3,762,780.00
Kenya National Audit Office	1,364,000.00	0	1,364,000.00
Midas Touch Agencies-Consultant	500,000.00	0	500,000.00
Kapchila Contractors	250,000.00	0	250,000.00
TOTAL	18,058,118.00	4,752,684.50	13,305,433.00

Source; Internal Audit Report on the Former Town Council of Chepareria

2.1.3 Pending Bills from FY 2013/14

The Office of the Auditor General undertook the process of collation and verification of pending bills for all county governments as at 30th June 2018 and Office of Controller of Budget undertook the same process as at 30th June 2020. The pending bill settlement progress report as at February 2024 is as follows;

- a) Outstanding pending bills as at 30th June ,2023 was Kshs 204,800,651.50 (opening balance)
- b) Pending bill that are ongoing projects accounts for Kshs 17,464,284.3, pending bills with sufficient documentations is Kshs. 25,103,491.40, pending bills with insufficient documentations is Kshs 158,982,875.80 and finally disputed pending bills by the county is worth Kshs. 3,250,000.00
- c) Amount paid as at 28th February 2024 was Kshs. 36,259,302.00
- d) Therefore, outstanding pending bills balance as at 28th February,2024 is Kshs 168,541,349.50; of this Kshs 59,210,824 worth of pending bills is recurrent and Kshs 109,330,525.50 is development.
- e) All the verified pending bills thereafter were budgeted, paid and some projects are in the final stages of payments.

A detailed report is found in annex 1. The final report was submitted to the County Assembly for its consideration.

2.2 Proposed Management Strategy for Liabilities and Pending Bills

- The county government has made a commitment to pay all verified pending bills and liabilities; Kshs 192,955,000.00 has been allocated for payment of pending bills and liabilities for FY 2024/2025 Budget Estimates. This allocation is for the recent pending bills and part payments.
- Departments to prioritize payment of pending bills and liabilities while preparing the final estimates of FY 2024/2025-2026/27 MTEF period.
- Pending bills to be settled on a First-In First-Out basis
- The County Government to limit on the use of project variation

The liabilities and pending bills pose a serious threat to county development and the new administration development agenda. It constitutes a fiscal risk with major potential consequences to the economy.

2.3 Key Assumptions

This section describes the medium term strategy assumptions considered during preparation and those that are to affect the realization of the proposed management strategies. The assumption is:

- (i) The macroeconomic framework underpinning the strategy will remain stable during the medium term period. Forecasted GDP growth rates will be realized and variables such as inflation rates, interest rates amongst others will remain stable to minimize the cost of debt.
- (ii) The macro-economic framework underpinning the 2024/2025-2026/27 MTDMS is consistent with projections included in the 2024 County Fiscal Policy Statement. The Fiscal Strategy Paper aims at providing a general fiscal direction to support economic activities taking into consideration debt harmony in the next three years with improved forecast of the national economy.
- (iii) The political, social and economic environment will remain favorable during the implementation of the strategy.
- (iv) As per the constitution, the national government will guarantee county government loans; (vii) The National Treasury will sustain the efforts towards minimizing the delays in disbursement of equitable share transfers and other factors which might lead to escalation of demand for short-term finance by the counties.

2.4 Analysis of Debt Sustainability

The county government is yet to borrow within the meaning of the Constitution and PFMA 2012. rigorous debt sustainability analysis therefore, will be done once the County Government contracts the first borrowing as informed by law.

2.5 Debt Management Strategies

This section outlines debt management strategies envisaged should the County Government of West Pokot contract a debt in future. There are four components to the Debt management Strategy;

(i) Maintain debt at sustainable and affordable levels.

- (ii) Ensure that any new borrowing follows fiscal responsibility guidelines for a fit purpose; from an allowable source and with acceptable terms and conditions.
- (iii)Introduce and consolidate fiscal, legal, institutional and operational measures that ensure that the above objectives are met.

2.6 Maintain debt at sustainable and affordable levels

Pursue grant funding and budget support;

- Where grants are unavailable, or where a loan element of grant funding for priority development projects is mandatory, limited concessional borrowing may be sought;
- Borrowing must be limited to concessional loans from multi- or bilateral donors or development partners,
- The criteria for considering concessional financing shall be a grant element,
- Concessional debt terms and conditions must be appropriate for the project being financed,
- Projected debt servicing cost, not allowing for grace periods, must be less than 10 per cent of forecast domestic sourced revenues, assuming no growth in revenue;
- Debt servicing shall be sequenced to avoid large peaks in repayment expenses at certain times of year.
- As part of the budget process, an annual borrowing limit will be set such that debt levels will not exceed the minimum set thresholds (5 percent of internal revenue).
- As a general rule, and to maintain any debt to be incurred at its affordable and sustainable levels or below, the cumulative new issuance should not exceed the cumulative principal repayments to be made once interest to incur debts are floated;
- Debt levels must be lower than any thresholds stipulated in the Public Finance
 Management Act 2012 and any other legislation governing matters debt;
- Debt levels used in monitoring and analysis will be total public debt;
- Any additional fiscal surplus arising from buoyant county revenues will be used to retire domestic debt.
- Ensure that any new borrowing follows legal and fiscal responsibility guidelines for a fit purpose; from an allowable source; and with acceptable terms and conditions.
- New borrowing must be recommended by a County Debt Management Unit to the Debt
 Management Advisory Committee and approved through the proper legal and institutional

channels. It must comply with the conditions contained within the MOU signed by the county and the entity issuing the debt.

New borrowing must be:

(a) For a fit purpose.

- (i) Borrowing must be for the following types of projects;
 - i. Investing in the productive capacity of West Pokot County;
 - ii. Funding priority core infrastructure and development initiatives;
 - iii. Specific purposes (projects) identified as a high priority in the county CIDP or specific sector plans; Preference shall be given to projects with high rates of return or projects such as investing in hospitals or schools that generate a high 'social rate of return' and those that can help the county reach the Sustainable Development Goals and the Kenya Vision 2030. Investment projects cash flows need to be clearly identified as sufficient to make debt repayments and the cost of any contingent liabilities and obligations such as tied procurement must be factored into the cost and risk of debt. When lending for revenue generating enterprises, the rate of return must be sufficient to make debt servicing payments and contribute to the future capital requirements of the county.
- (ii) Borrowing must not be used for:
 - i. Funding shortfalls in recurrent expenditure.
 - ii. Funding any form of losses incurred by the county.

(b) From an acceptable source.

For the duration of this Debt Management Strategy (three years), borrowing after the transition period shall be restricted to concessional sources of finance from multilateral or bilateral donors. Such financing generally comes with greater scrutiny and oversight, making sure that funding is used for the purposes it was provided and decreasing reputational risk. Concessional lending is available through multilateral agencies like the ADB and World Bank and bilateral donors. Loan amounts will depend on the specific projects to be funded and donors' funding allocations to the county. The denomination of the loan currency will also influence the acceptability of the source. Acceptability of source will also depend on the individual characteristics of the loan, limitations, terms and conditions on the loan. Lending from bilateral partners is linked to specific projects and terms and conditions depend on the project.

(c) With favorable terms and conditions.

The terms and conditions associated with any debt proposals must be examined carefully. Loans will be subject to a cost risk analysis by the DMU.

The following factors must be examined:

- a) **Grant/ Concessional Element**: Preference should be given to debt with a large grant component. However, the project still needs to be for a fit purpose.
- b) **Debt Sustainability and Affordability**: The volume and cost of debt must not have a negative impact on debt sustainability and affordability. All economic indicators must be below the thresholds when subjected to stress tests and using conservative estimates of economic variables. Hidden costs, such as fees (transaction, commitment, agency or underwriting), requirements for the county Government to fund maintenance or project management expenses must be included in the analysis.
- c) Currency and Exchange Rate Risk: Despite offering very low interest rates, concessional loans still carry foreign exchange risk. The benefit of very low or even zero interest rates could be negated by depreciation. Stress tests used in the above analysis must assess the impact on affordability and sustainability of foreign exchange movements.
- d) **Interest Rate**: Debt with a lower interest rate will have a lower cost. Fixed interest rates have a lower risk than variable interest rates where the future cost of debt is not known.
- e) **Tenure:** The term of the loan should be more closely aligned to the cash flows of the project. The advantages of very long term loans (such as the impact of inflation on the value of the loan) and very low repayment amounts can be outweighed by accumulating large amounts of debt over many generations. Very long term loans may encourage fiscal irresponsibility, because if the project fails, it is future generations that must bear the cost. By using up the borrowed loans now, it might restrict the ability of future generations to borrow, and they will be servicing debt for projects that were completed before they were born and for which they receive no tangible benefit.
- f) **Grace Period**: Debt sustainability analysis must extend beyond grace periods. The length of the grace period should be assessed in terms of factors such as the revenue stream from the project, its duration, inter-generational equity and the time value of money.

- g) Conditions: Preference should be given to debt with positive characteristics such as project administration or management and advisory services. Negative characteristics such as tied procurement, the requirement to use particular companies or nationalities for project implementation, future expense commitments (such as auditing expenses or maintaining equipment) need to be factored into assessments of the cost of debt.
- h) Concentration Risk: If the volume of the loan is large, it may contribute to concentration risk. If an institution or bilateral partner has a large concentration of debt it could use this as a means of exerting undue political influence or bargaining for favors (for example tax concessions, access to resources). The behavior of the lender needs to be assessed.
- i) **Legal Risk**: Borrowing proposals must be examined for potential legal risks. They must not contravene any country legislation

2.7 Implementation Framework

This section seeks to introduce and consolidate fiscal, legal, institutional and operational measures that ensure that the objectives of the Strategy are met. Fiscal, legal, institutional and operational measures are needed to strengthen debt management and establish a borrowing framework. These measures also need to increase transparency and accountability so as to restore credit worthiness.

2.8 Fiscal Measures

The West Pokot County Government must continue its commitment to balanced recurrent budgets and debt should not be used for recurrent spending. Annual borrowing limits will be set as part of the budget process to keep debt at sustainable and affordable levels, based on conservative forecasts of macroeconomic factors, and in line with the County Fiscal Strategy Paper, 2023.

2.9 Legal Measures

Essential aspects of debt management contain these elements:

- (i) Definition of debt to include loans, borrowings, guarantees and on-lending;
- (ii) Clear authorization by county assembly to approve borrowings and loan guarantees on behalf of the county government;
- (iii) A requirement that all borrowing proposals (including guarantees) are reviewed by a Debt Management Advisory Committee (DMAC) and recommendations submitted to the CECM for finance before borrowing and loan guarantees can be approved on behalf of the government;

- (iv) Decisions surrounding borrowing made as part of the budget process so that projects can be compared on merit, and appropriations are made for borrowed funds;
- (v) Clear authorization from the CECM for Finance to the debt management entities to undertake borrowing and debt-related transactions and to manage loan guarantees;
- (vi) Clear debt management objectives, including that the cost of the debt is minimized from a medium/long-term perspective, the risks in the debt portfolio are kept at acceptable levels, and that development of the domestic debt market is promoted;
- (vii) A requirement to review and update the Debt Strategy annually which will serve as an operational strategy and will provide a framework for how the county government will achieve its debt management objectives; and
- (viii) As part of the annual update of the Debt Strategy, mandatory reporting on progress since the last review, covering an evaluation of outcomes against stated objectives.

2.10 Institutional and Operational Framework

2.10.1 County Debt Management Advisory Committee

There is established a committee to be called County Debt Management Advisory Committee (DMAC). This Committee will be chaired by the chief officer in charge of finance with membership of technical officers from Economic Planning, Budget, Water, Agriculture, Livestock and Infrastructure dockets. The Debt Management Advisory Committee will evaluate borrowing proposals and make recommendations to the CECM for finance as to whether borrowing should or should not proceed.

DMAC will assess the volume and risk characteristics of debt to ensure that:

- (i) Debt is sustainable and affordable;
- (ii) Debt is below the thresholds established:
- (iii) Debt is from an acceptable source;
- (iv) Debt is for a good purpose and the project is a high priority in the CIDP (2023-2027);
- (v) Debt is not for funding recurrent expenditure;
- (vi) Project has a positive Net Present Value or helps achieve Vision 2030 and the SDGs;
- (vii) The cost of any contingent liabilities and obligations such as tied procurement are factored into the cost and risk of debt;
- (viii) Cash flows from project can be identified that will be able to be used for repaying the loan.

- (ix) Loan terms and conditions are acceptable and achieve the best cost and risk outcome
- (x) Borrowing aligns with the CFSP 2024.

2.10.2 Functions and Responsibilities of the Debt Management Unit

There is established a County Debt Management unit (DMU) under the County Treasury of West Pokot county government. The Debt Management Unit will provide secretariat services for the DMAC Committee.

The functions and responsibilities of the DMU will include:

- Make debt payments on time and for the correct amount;
- Keep timely, comprehensive and accurate records of outstanding government debt, guarantees, contingent liabilities and new borrowing in a single debt database;
- Publish, in a timely manner, monthly (and quarterly) reports showing the status of outstanding debt, debt payments, and projected debt payment obligations;
- Prepare, review and update the Debt Strategy;
- If required, prepare an annual borrowing plan;
- Prepare and publish auction calendars for issuance of domestic securities (Treasury Bills and Treasury Bonds);
- Assess the risks in issuing any guarantees, and prepare reports on the method used for each assessment and the results thereof for the attention of the CEC Member for Finance;
- Submit all debt reports and debt management strategy to DMAC for consideration and recommendation.

2.10.3 Process for Recommending Borrowing Proposals to the County Executive

There is need for clear delegation of responsibilities for recommending and approving debt, where debt includes loans, borrowings, and guarantees and on lending to the county government. In this regard, DMAC will recommend and rank acceptable proposals. It is therefore, proposed that:

- (i) Proposals that have been recommended by the DMAC be submitted and incorporated as part of the budget approval and appropriation process.
- (ii) The CECM for finance has sole authority to approve loans. Therefore, borrowing will not be legal unless it has been signed off by CEC Member for finance.

Operating framework for the debt management unit will consist of:

- a) **Debt recording**: The DMU shall maintain accurate and up-to-date records of all debt (including guarantees, on-lending and contingent liabilities) and investments, which can then be reported. DMU also needs to keep records on liabilities of county entities.
- b) **Debt reporting**: DMU shall publish monthly reports on the status of County's total debt including loans, guarantees, contingent liabilities and payment arrears. The report will include details of new borrowing and issuance of Government guarantees, as well as debt repayments, rescheduling, write-offs, and retirements. Quarterly debt bulletins indicating debt levels and cost, debt sustainability and affordability and actual and projected debt service costs over the medium term will be published on county's websites. An Annual Report will also be produced showing changes in the debt status over the year, details of any new borrowing and debt repayments, key events in the management of debt and in the DMU, and a review of progress and performance against the Debt Strategy. Reports shall be published in a timely manner, so that stakeholders have access to up-to-date information.
- c) **Debt Strategy**: Every year the DMU shall review, update the debt management strategy and present to the County Assembly. The Debt Strategy will provide a framework for ensuring debt financing decisions are consistent with County government's broader fiscal and development strategies and that the level of borrowing fits within the debt sustainability/affordability thresholds defined in legislation or any other official documents and with achieving macroeconomic objectives.
- d) **Borrowing Plan**: When required, DMU shall prepare a borrowing plan.
- e) Debt Sustainability Analysis: DMU shall prepare a debt sustainability analysis.
- Treasury to integrate cash and debt management. Cash management ensures that County government has sufficient funds to meet its obligations as and when they fall due. Use of cash management tools depends on reliable cash forecasting. For example, Treasury Bills can be issued to fund forecast cash shortfalls, with maturity timed to coincide with periods of forecast cash surplus. Similarly, excess cash can be invested in term deposits or similar instruments to earn the county government reasonable rates of return, with term deposits maturing at times of forecast cash shortfall.

- g) Compliance; Where staffing levels permit, the DMU will move toward an office organization with separation of back, middle and front office duties so that work can be monitored and verified. DMU will also work with Treasury toward greater integration of the cash management task.
- h) **Capacity Building**: Capacity building shall continue at all levels and the DMU will update its capacity development plan annually.
- i) **Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery**: Business continuity shall be strengthened by documenting procedures for all key processes. A register will be kept of key spreadsheets and documents, and these will be backed up regularly.

CHAPTER THREE: CONCLUSION

The 2024/2025 MDMSP is a robust framework for prudent debt management. It provides a systematic approach to decision making on the appropriate composition of external and domestic borrowing to finance the budget in the financial year 2024/25, taking into account both cost and risk. The cost-risk trade-off of the Debt Strategy has been evaluated within the medium-term context.

The paper observes that the County Government of West Pokot is yet to contract a debt within the interpretation of Section 122 and 123 of the PFMA, 2012. In this regard, it proceeds to make proposals on strategies to be adopted in future.

The institutional framework envisaged will ensure that both the executive and the assembly play their roles within the provisions of Section 9 (1) and (2) of the County Governments Act, 2012 for the benefit of the public. The strategies proposed will ensure low cost funding with high returns, thereby promoting socioeconomic well-being of the citizens. This is expected to contribute to economic growth both at the county and national level. Implementation of the strategies is the responsibility of the CEC Members led by the CEC Member for Finance and Economic Planning while the Assembly will provide the oversight role in line with the law.

ANNEX 1

S/NO	DEPARTMENT	Outstanding Pending Bills Balance as at 30th June,2023(Kshs)	AMOUNT PAID AS AT 31st December 2023	Outstanding Balance as of 31st December 2023 (Kshs)	Recurrent	Development
1	COUNTY EXECUTIVE	4,730,783.80	1,183,550.00	3,547,233.80	3,157,740.00	389,493.80
2	FINANCE	5,742,686.00	210,632.00	5,532,054.00	5,532,054.00	-
3	ROADS	0	0	0.00		-
4	HEALTH	18,909,203.10	1,248,370.00	17,660,833.10	-	17,660,833.10
5	EDUCATION	19,149,622.60	3,320,100.00	15,829,522.60	0	15,829,522.60
6	AGRICULTURE	74,755,470.00	0	74,755,470.00	247,080.00	74,508,390.00
7	LIVESTOCK	480,000.00	0	480,000.00	-	480,000.00
8	LANDS	0	0	0.00		-
9	TRADE	0	0	0.00		-
10	WATER	0	0	0.00		-
11	TOURISM	462,286.00	0	462,286.00		462,286.00
12	COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE MANAGENT (CPSM)	80,570,600.00	30,296,650.00	50,273,950.00	50,273,950.00	-
13	SPECIAL PROGRAMMES	0	0	0.00	-	-
	Total	204,800,651.50	36,259,302.00	168,541,349.50	59,210,824.00	109,330,525.50

ANNEX 2:

Def	Defunct local Authorities Staff net salaries and Cllrs allowances arrears								
Net	Net Councillors allowances arrears								
s/ n	Names	Amounts at at 31st March 2013	Amount Paid as at 28 Feb 2024	Outstanding Balance					
1	Stephen Lopus	83,443.00	41,721.50	41,721.50					
2	Samwel Ngorilem	81,219.00	40,609.50	40,609.50					
3	LolemtumLomerikwang	123,603.00	61,801.50	61,801.50					
4	Daniel Poloreng	19,800.00	9,900.00	9,900.00					
5	James Tepaluk	25,400.00	12,700.00	12,700.00					
6	Lotudonyang Ngalima	14,000.00	7,000.00	7,000.00					
7	Mnosho Elijah	19,780.00		19,780.00					
8	Wilson Riternyang	22,580.00	11,290.00	11,290.00					
9	Kacheliwa longolemuk	13,380.00	6,690.00	6,690.00					

1				
0	lopeyoi Yaramuket	9,890.00	4,945.00	4,945.00
1	Mnangat Achekek	9,890.00	4,945.00	4,945.00
1 2	Nelson Kakuko	11,510.00	5,755.00	5,755.00
1 3	Ngironyang Tughkamer	48,500.00		48,500.00
1 4	John losemuk lotua	10,000.00	5,000.00	5,000.00
1 5	Edward Soprin	922,300.00	100,795.00	821,505.00
1 6	Christopher Alukungiro	152,280.00	76,140.00	76,140.00
1 7	Wilson Tomengor	153,400.00	76,700.00	76,700.00
1 8	Christopher Lopeta	197,500.00	98,750.00	98,750.00
1 9	DomonyangChanakou	108,400.00	54,200.00	54,200.00
2 0	Johnstone Mukelima	604,188.00	302,094.00	302,094.00
2	Kilima Ngole	333,071.00	166,535.50	166,535.50
2 2	Losilian Kalo Johnson	351,802.00	175,901.00	175,901.00
2 3	Samwel Lokoret Kanapus	512,832.00	256,416.00	256,416.00
2 4	Mchael pyego peitum	399,275.00	199,637.50	199,637.50
2 5	Benson Kedimuk	112,878.00	56,439.00	56,439.00
2 6	Ywalakeris Losili	699,148.00	349,574.00	349,574.00
7	Margaret Temoo	173,000.00	86,500.00	86,500.00
2 8	Joseph Kilekwang	230,595.00	115,297.50	115,297.50
	Total	5,443,664.00	2,721,832.00	2,721,832.00
Net	staff salaries arrears			
1	Wilson Akori	429,753.00	214,876.50	214,876.50
2	moses loktari Kilenyang	516,255.00	258,127.50	258,127.50
3	Wilson Pkemoi Sokobet	441,890.00	220,945.00	220,945.00
4	Christine ChepateiLokoret	376,521.00	188,260.50	188,260.50

5	Daniel Plimo Rotino	368,662.00	184,331.00	184,331.00
6	Sarah Chepkosgei Masai	474,290.00	237,145.00	237,145.00
7	Stephen Mwok Kamaina	54,630.00	27,315.00	27,315.00
8	Peter Ngirokwang	48,980.00	24,490.00	24,490.00
9	Musa Kakuko	34,650.00	17,325.00	17,325.00
1 0	Ben Limasia Riwongole	35,300.00	17,650.00	17,650.00
1	Charles Limatiang Lomonyang	43,610.00	21,805.00	21,805.00
1 2	Moses kipos Chelokoi	37,230.00	18,615.00	18,615.00
1 3	Pamela C Tulel	9,700.00	4,850.00	4,850.00
1 4	Beatrice Domoo	14,300.00	7,150.00	7,150.00
1 5	Jacob K. k. Loriono	32,104.00	16,052.00	16,052.00
1 6	Joseph Kipkoech Bett	1,705,595.00	852,797.50	852,797.50
1 7	Margaret Chenangat	47,040.00	23,520.00	23,520.00
1 8	Lydia Kadielem Cheptoo	67,170.00	33,585.00	33,585.00
1 9	John Lopoyetum	67,170.00	33,585.00	33,585.00
2	Catherine Andiema	67,170.00	33,585.00	33,585.00
2	Benson Loyotoma	57,820.00	28,910.00	28,910.00
2 2	Robert Sehemu	57,820.00	28,910.00	28,910.00
2 3	Damaris Atodosia	225,329.00	112,664.50	112,664.50
2 4	Chanzan Chemongot	57,820.00	28,910.00	28,910.00
2 5	Grace jelimo Mittey	548,847.00	274,423.50	274,423.50
2	Kibet koros Busienei Alexander	460,638.00	230,319.00	230,319.00
2 7	Joseph Koech	265,644.00	132,822.00	132,822.00
2 8	Caroline Chepkemoi Sang	416,916.00	208,458.00	208,458.00
2 9	Isaac Talam	91,918.00	45,959.00	45,959.00

	Total	7,054,772.00	3,527,386.00	3,527,386.00					
10tal									
1	John Lotako	49,770.00	24,885.00	24,885.00					
2	Nicholas Lokichi	443,961.00	221,980.50	221,980.50					
3	Richard Loumo Riwongole	18,441.00	9,220.50	9,220.50					
4	Joel Riwon Lorwokori	10,000.00	5,000.00	5,000.00					
5	Eric Kibet pekon	26,700.00	13,350.00	13,350.00					
7	Samwel NGOLENYANG	24,700.00	12,350.00	12,350.00					
8	Daniel Kanapus	10,139.00	5,069.50	5,069.50					
9	Wilson Koringura	15,000.00	7,500.00	7,500.00					
1 0	J. c. limasia	17,000.00	8,500.00	8,500.00					
1	Joel Kamar	50,000.00	25,000.00	25,000.00					
	Total	665,711.00	332,855.50	332,855.50					
Net salaries arrears for staff who passed away									
1	Wilson Cherupka	249,330.00	0	249,330.00					
2	Lilian W. Sindano	302,926.00	0	302,926.00					
3	Tom Kiptalam Kingasia	107,800.00	0	107,800.00					
4	Joseph k. Muton	2,188,968.00	0	2,188,968.00					
5	Stella Karumet	324,327.00	0	324,327.00					
6	Jackson Losiapus	175,988.00	0	175,988.00					
	Total	3,349,339.00	0	3,349,339.00					
Net	salaries arrears for counc	illors who passed away	I	T					
1	Daniel C. Losialoi	174,800.00	0	174,800.00					
2	Francisco Musa Alukur	554,864.00	0	554,864.00					
	Total	729,664.00	0	729,664.00					
Net salaries arrears for staff already paid									
1	Henry loyolmoi	1,300,000.00	1,300,000.00	-					
2	Julio Chenoven	214,000.00	214,000.00	-					
	Julia Chepowon	<u> </u>	214,000.00						
	Total	1,514,000.00	1,514,000.00	-					
		18,757,150.00	8,096,073.50	10,661,076.50					